Filed 06-17-2024

Page 1 of 44

FILED 06-17-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Appeal Nos. 2024AP000591-CR, 2024AP000592-CR, 2024AP000593-CR, 2024AP000594-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

M.M.K.,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from Order of Commitment for Treatment (Incompetency) and Order to Provide Emergency Medical Care and Treatment Entered in the Portage County Circuit Court, the Honorable Louis J. Molepske, Jr. and Honorable Michael D. Zell, presiding.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KYLE N. MINDEN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1126481

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Does the circuit court's commitment order violate M.M.K.'s due process rights given the court relied upon the act of filing a motion for involuntary medication to find M.M.K. not competent to proceed?

The circuit court found M.M.K. not competent to proceed and committed her to the custody of the Department of Health Services for competency restoration.

2. Does the circuit court's involuntary medication order violate due process because the State failed to prove the four factors outlined in *Sell v. United States*, 539 U.S. 166 (2003)?

The circuit court found that the State met its burden and issued an involuntary medication order.

3. Is M.M.K.'s appeal moot because she has been discharged from commitment?

The circuit court did not address this issue.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

M.M.K. does not request oral argument but would welcome it if the court believes it helpful to decide the issues. M.M.K. believes publication is appropriate¹ because this case presents recurring issues regarding which criminal offenses in Wisconsin are "serious" for the purposes of *Sell* as well as how tailored individualized treatment plans must be. Publication would clarify the law on issues of constitutional importance and provide needed guidance to the bench and bar.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND THE CASE

Between July and October of 2023, M.M.K. was charged in Portage County with five counts (spread across four cases) of violating an injunction—a Class A misdemeanor—contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 813.125(4)&(7).² (App. 46-55). At the time, there was an ongoing injunction prohibiting M.M.K. from contacting her husband or posting on social media

¹ M.M.K. is unclear whether this case will be decided by one or three judges. While the underlying criminal case is a misdemeanor and normally a one-judge appeal, Wis. Stat. §§ 752.31(2)(f)&(3), appeals from competency orders are civil appeals of final orders in special proceedings, meaning it would be a three-judge panel. *State v. Scott*, 2018 WI 74, ¶34, 382 Wis. 2d 476, 914 N.W.2d 141; Wis. Stat. § 752.31(1). In the event the Court determines that it is a one-judge appeal, and request for publication is prohibited by Wis. Stat. § 809.23(4)(b), but the Court agrees publication is appropriate, M.M.K. invites the Court to convert the matter to a three-judge panel on its own motion. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.41(3).

² The four complaints are all document (2) in the records for 2024AP000591, 2024AP000592, 2024AP000593, and 2024AP000594. For the purposes of this brief, M.M.K. refers to the record numbers in 2024AP000591, unless otherwise noted.

about her husband or children. (2:4³; App. 49). Four of the counts alleged that M.M.K. either made or edited Facebook posts about her husband. (2:2-3; 2:1; 2:2⁴; App. 47-48, 50, 55). Although M.M.K. "blocked"⁵ her husband on Facebook, the husband had a friend monitor M.M.K.'s account, and the husband reported the activity to police. (2:3;⁶ App. 48). The final count alleged that M.M.K. sent two emails to her husband. (2:1;⁷ App. 52).

Pretrial, the circuit court issued an Order for Competency Examination by the Department of Health Services ("DHS"). The court then scheduled an initial appearance and competency hearing for January 8, 2024. In the meantime, Dr. Craig Schoenecker, a psychiatrist, conducted an examination of M.M.K. via Zoom videoconference. (22:2; App. 57). Dr. Schoenecker diagnosed M.M.K. with rule out delusional disorder, but was otherwise unable to make a competency determination and

³ Cite to 2024AP000592.

 $^{^4}$ Cite to 2024AP000592, 2024AP000593, and 2024AP000594, respectively.

⁵ Facebook's "Blocking" feature allows a user to prevent a particular person from being able to look at the user's profile or see photos or content that the user may post. *See* Facebook Help Center, https://www.facebook.com/help/573359136015141 (last visited June 14, 2024).

⁶ Cite to 2024AP000592.

⁷ Cite to 2024AP000594.

 $^{^8}$ An Amended order was issued on November 29th rescheduling the hearing date from December 4th, 2023 to January 8th, 2024.

Case 2024AP000591 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-17-2024 Page 12 of 44

suggested an inpatient evaluation, which the court ordered. (22:3; App. 58)

After M.M.K. was transported to Mendota Mental Health Institute ("MMHI"), Dr. Danielle Calas, a psychologist, examined M.M.K. In a report dated March 7, 2024, Dr. Calas opined that M.M.K. was incompetent and recommended inpatient treatment to restore M.M.K. to competency. (42:7-9; App. 67-69). Dr. Calas also recommended an order for involuntary administration of medication and treatment. (42:9; App. 69).

Following Dr. Calas's report, DHS moved the court to order involuntary administration of medication and/or treatment. (44:1; App. 70). Along with the notice was an Individual Treatment Plan and a letter, both authored by Dr. Candace Cohen, a psychiatrist at MMHI. (44:3-8; App. 72-77). Between the Individual Treatment Plan and letter, Dr. Cohen proposed administering seventeen different medications. (44:3-8; App. 72-77).

On March 12, 2024, the court held a contested competency hearing. Dr. Calas testified that M.M.K. had been polite during her time at MMHI and took "care of her activities of daily living." (76:11-12; App. 88-89). When discussing competency, Dr. Calas explained that M.M.K. understood the legal proceedings and the court process. (76:9-11; App. 86-88). However, Dr. Calas opined that M.M.K had a mental illness that made her unable to apply the legal information to her case. (76:9-11; App. 86-88). In

Case 2024AP000591 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-17-2024 Page 13 of 44

particular, Dr. Calas diagnosed M.M.K. with unspecified schizophrenia and other psychotic disorder. (76:18; App. 95). As a result, Dr. Calas believed M.M.K. was incompetent to proceed. (44:1; 76:16-17; App. 69, 85-86).

After arguments from the parties, the court noted that M.M.K. "is a smart person" who "understands proceedings." (76:25; App. 102). Despite this, the court expressed concern that M.M.K. lacked the capacity to assist in her defense. (76:26-27; App. 103-04). To support this concern, the court noted DHS had filed a motion for involuntary medication which "indicat[es] that there is something significant going on for [M.M.K.]." (76:25; App. 102). The court later explained that

"there is a substantial competency issue such that the doctors have already requested that she be involuntarily treated...[and] to file this motion under the statute, you have to have a legal basis under 971.14(5) that she is not competent, cannot rationalize the benefits, the pros/cons of taking medication, pros/cons of being treated such that it's clinically affecting her stability and the mental health at this stage in this criminal case, that there is a level of—there is an inference the Court can take from that."

(76:26-27; App. 103-04).

Finally, the court found that Dr. Calas's opinion that M.M.K. lacks the capacity to understand the proceedings and/or assist in her defense also proved the defendant is not competent to proceed but is likely

to regain within the statutory time frame. (76: 27, 30; App. 104, 107). As a result, the circuit court found M.M.K. not competent to proceed and issued an Order of Commitment for Treatment. (52:1-3; 76:27, 30; App. 3-5, 104, 107).

Two weeks later, the court held a motion hearing on the involuntary medication motion. At the hearing, Dr. Cohen testified that M.M.K.'s "working diagnosis is unspecified schizophrenia spectrum and other psychotic disorders." (82:5; App. 13). Dr. Cohen also stated that, while M.M.K. has "had no dangerous behavior," she "meets the self-criteria for involuntary medication." (82:8; App. 16).

Dr. Cohen next explained the Individual Treatment Plan. When asked about what medications would be proposed, Dr. Cohen said "Abilify or Aripiprazole is the most appropriate for her" given it was more "metabolically neutral" and less likely to cause certain side effects. (82:6, 9; App. 14, 17). Dr. Cohen went on:

"There are other medications that are mentioned, including Haldol, Zyprexa, and risperidone . . . I also mentioned Benadryl which can be used for side effects . . . and then I also mentioned Ativan and Lorazepam which is medication for anxiety or agitation, if needed acutely."

(82:9; App. 17). Dr. Cohen also mentioned she "would want to be able to consider using" lithium or valproic

⁹ It is unclear whether this was mis-transcribed, and Dr. Cohen was referring to the "Sell" factors.

Case 2024AP000591 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-17-2024 Page 15 of 44

acid (mood stabilizers) "if that became necessary." (82:10; App. 18).

On cross-examination. Dr. Cohen reiterated that M.M.K. has had "no episodes of dangerous behavior" while at MMHI. (82:17; App. 25). When defense counsel began asking about specific medications, the court stated it "isn't going to micromanage the medical decision." (82:18; App. 26). When asked to describe the dosages for these medications, Dr. Cohen then mentioned that the plan would start "at the lower doses and move up to what the effective dose is" without specifying what those doses would be. (82:19; App. 27). Finally, Dr. Cohen admitted she does not know what medications M.M.K. was taking prior to being admitted into MMHI and conceded that certain medications, if previously taken, could create a safety risk when mixed with the recommended drugs. (82:20-22; App. 28-30).

M.M.K.'s counsel then argued that *Sell* precluded the court from issuing a medication order here, especially given the crimes were not violent or serious. (82:25; App. 33). The State responded that the first *Sell* factor weighed in favor of a medication order because M.M.K. "is alleged to have violated a restraining order and it's important to uphold the restraining orders." (82:29; App. 37).

The court then confirmed that it had to consider the factors listed in both *Sell* and Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b). (82:29; App. 37). The court found that the involuntary administration of medication is needed

Case 2024AP000591 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-17-2024 Page 16 of 44

"because the defendant poses a current risk of harm to self or others if not medicated or treated." (82:31; App. 39). The court then found that M.M.K. is "substantially incapable of applying an understanding of the advantages, disadvantages, and alternatives to her mental illness in order to make an informed choice as to whether to accept or refuse medication." (82:32; App. 40).

Turning to seriousness of the offense, the court found that M.M.K.'s "online harassment" was serious under *Sell* in that it illegally violated "this person's sanctity and their right to be left alone." (82:33; App. 41). The Court then found that involuntary administration of medication will significantly further an important government interest in rendering the defendant competent to stand trial. (82:34; App. 42). The court then concluded that the treatment is medically appropriate and ordered involuntary medication to regain competency. (82:34-35; App. 42-43).

That same day, M.M.K.'s trial attorney filed a motion to stay the involuntary medication order pending appeal. The next day, March 27th, the circuit court issued an Amended Order for Commitment for Treatment permitting DHS to involuntarily administer medication needed to regain competency. (67:1-3; App. 6-8). Later that day, M.M.K.'s appellate counsel filed a motion for emergency temporary stay with this Court.

On March 28th, the circuit court issued a 14-day automatic stay of the involuntary medication order. (75:1; App. 110). Later that day, this Court also issued a stay of the medication order pending further order from this Court.

On April 18th, this Court granted M.M.K.'s motion for a continuation of the stay of the involuntary administration of medication order pending appeal.¹⁰ This appeal of M.M.K.'s involuntary medication and commitment orders follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court improperly relied upon the filing of the motion for involuntary medication to find M.M.K. not competent to proceed.

The circuit court's reliance on the fact DHS filed a motion to involuntarily medicate M.M.K. in order to find her not competent to proceed was an erroneous exercise of discretion. As such, the finding that M.M.K. was incompetent is clearly erroneous. Under both the U.S. Constitution and Wisconsin state law, "[n]o person who lacks substantial mental capacity to

¹⁰ In the interim, M.M.K. has been found not competent, not likely to regain and has been released from MMHI. The pending charges have been dismissed without prejudice. This information, while not in the record, is reflected in CCAP. This Court may take judicial notice of CCAP records when requested by a party. *See Kirk v. Credit Acceptance Corp.*, 2013 WI App 32, ¶5 n.1, 346 Wis. 2d 635, 829 N.W.2d 522.

Case 2024AP000591 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-17-2024 Page 18 of 44

understand the proceedings or assist in his or her defense may be tried, convicted, or sentenced for the commission of an offense so long as the incapacity occurs." Wis. Stat. § 971.13(1); see Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 171-72 (1975). However, when the State attempts to restore a defendant to competency, the defendant still retains significant due process interests in avoiding involuntary commitment or forced medication. Sell v. United States, 539 U.S. 166, 178-80 (2003); see Addington v. Texas, 441 U.S. 418, 425 (1979).

Competency is "a judicial inquiry, not a medical determination," and the court's job at a contested competency hearing is to determine whether the evidence shows "the defendant can understand the proceedings and assist counsel with a reasonable degree of rational understanding." *State v. Byrge*, 2000 WI 101, ¶31, 237 Wis. 2d 197, 614 N.W.2d 477 (internal quotations omitted). Appellate courts then review the circuit court's competency determination under the clearly erroneous standard. *Id* at ¶ 45.

At the evidentiary hearing in this case, the court noted the filing of a motion for involuntary medication "indicat[es] that this is something significant going on." (76:25; App. 102). The court continued by stating it can infer from the act of filing the motion that M.M.K. "is not competent [and] cannot rationalize the benefits, the pros/cons of taking medication, pros/cons of being treated such that it's clinically affecting her stability and the mental health at this state in this criminal case." (76:26-27; App. 103-04).

Case 2024AP000591 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-17-2024 Page 19 of 44

The court's reliance on the mere filing of a request to administer involuntary medication as evidence M.M.K. was incompetent was improper. The fact DHS filed a motion to involuntarily medicate M.M.K. is not evidence. *See* Wis. J.I.—Criminal 103 (2000); Wis. J.I.—Criminal 145 (2000). Attributing probative evidentiary value to the act of filing the request would allow the State to meet their burden to involuntarily commit an individual simply by filing a motion alleging they can meet their burden. Such a circular result would eviscerate the defendant's due process protections and render the evidentiary hearing required by §971.14(4)(b) to nothing more than a show. *See Addington*, 441 U.S. at 425; *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 178-80.

When relying on the filing of DHS's motion, the court mentions that filing a motion for involuntary medication requires a "legal basis under § 971.14(5) that she is not competent." (76:27; App. 104). This analysis, however, is incorrect. Under § 971.14(5)(am), the department merely needs to "determine[] that the defendant should be subject" to an order for involuntary medication in order to file the motion.

Moreover, the legal standard for determining competency to refuse medication is distinct from the standard for whether an individual is not competent to proceed. *Compare* Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3)(dm) *with* Wis. Stat. § 971.149(3)(c). Therefore, even if the act of filing a motion for involuntary medication had probative value, it could only support a finding regarding M.M.K.'s competency to refuse medication;

Case 2024AP000591 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-17-2024 Page 20 of 44

DHS's filing is irrelevant to whether M.M.K. is competent to proceed to trial. As a result, the court's reliance on the act of filing a motion for involuntary medication was both irrelevant and improper.

The circuit court's reliance on this improper factor constitutes an erroneous exercise of discretion leading to a clearly erroneous finding of M.M.K.'s competency, which requires reversal. a circuit court erroneously sentencing context, exercises its discretion when it relies on "clearly irrelevant or improper factors" when imposing a sentence. State v. Harris, 2010 WI 79, ¶ 30, 326 Wis. 2d 685, 786 N.W.2d 409. The same principles apply here. The court repeatedly relied on an improper and irrelevant factor when determining that M.M.K. was not competent to proceed and subsequently ordering M.M.K. into the custody of DHS. The court relied heavily on this fact—spending most of its analysis on the filing of the motion. As such, its finding was clearly erroneous. and reversal of the competency commitment order is warranted.

II. The State failed to present sufficient evidence to support an involuntary medication order under *Sell*.

Individuals have "a 'significant' constitutionally protected 'liberty interest' in 'avoiding the unwanted administration of antipsychotic drugs." *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 178 (2003) (quoting *Washington v. Harper*, 494 U.S. 210, 221 (1990)). Therefore, the Constitution only permits the forcible administration of medications "in

limited circumstances." *Id.* at 169. When the State seeks to involuntarily medicate a defendant in order to return him or her to competency, the court must apply the constitutional standard outlined by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Sell. State v. Fitzgerald*, 2019 WI 69, ¶13, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165 (citing *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 178).

The circuit court erroneously found that the State had met its burden to order involuntary medication to restore M.M.K. to competency. As a result, the circuit court's order allowing M.M.K. to be involuntarily medicated should be vacated.

A. Legal Standard and Standard of Review

The Court in Sell outlined four factors that must be met before the government may forcibly medicate a defendant to attempt to return them to competency. Sell, 539 U.S. at 179-80. Under Sell, a court may order involuntary medication to restore a defendant to competency only if the State proves—by clear and convincing evidence—that: (1) important an government interest is at stake; (2) involuntary medication will significantly further that interest; (3) involuntary medication is necessary to further that interest; and (4) administration of drugs is medically appropriate, i.e., in the patient's best medical interest, given their medical condition. Sell, 539 U.S. at 180-81 (emphasis in original). To meet the second, third, and fourth requirements, the State must present "an individualized treatment plan" that applies to the Case 2024AP000591 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-17-2024 Page 22 of 44

particular defendant. *State v. Green*, 2021 WI App 18, $\P 37-38$, 396 Wis. 2d 658, 957 N.W.2d 583.

Because this appeal implicates M.M.K.'s due process rights, the issues present a question of constitutional fact which requires this court to apply facts to the applicable constitutional standard in *Sell. See State v. Woods*, 117 Wis. 2d 701, 715, 345 N.W.2d 457 (1984); *see also, Langlade Cnty. v. D.J.W.*, 2020 WI 41, ¶¶23-24, 391 Wis. 2d 231, 942 N.W.2d 277. Under that standard, this court will uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous or against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. *D.J.W.*, 391 Wis. 2d at ¶24. Whether those facts meet the legal standard is a question of law reviewed *de novo. Woods*, 117 Wis. 2d at 716; *D.J.W.*, 391 Wis. 2d at ¶25.

B. The State did not present sufficient evidence to satisfy the *Sell* factors.

If the State does not meet the high burden established in *Sell*, involuntary medication is unconstitutional. *Fitzgerald*, 387 Wis. 2d at ¶32. Given the State must prove all four requirements by clear and convincing evidence, the instances where a court orders the "involuntary administration of drugs solely for trial competence purposes . . . may be rare." *Sell*, 529 U.S. at 180. Here, the State did not meet its burden on at least three of the *Sell* factors.

i. The State lacks an important interest in prosecuting M.M.K.

This case is about M.M.K. allegedly making non-threatening posts on Facebook about her husband and child. (App. 46-55).¹¹ These alleged misdemeanor offenses are not serious, meaning the State does not have an important interest in prosecuting them.

Under *Sell*, the State must first prove that "*important* governmental interests are at stake." *Sell*, 529 U.S. at 180 (emphasis in original). This requires the State to show that it aims to bring "to trial an individual accused of a *serious* crime." *Id*. (emphasis added).

While Sell did not provide "specific guidance or a rigid test" to determine which crimes were serious. federal courts often defer to the judgment of the legislature. United States v. Breedlove, 756 F.3d1036, 1041 (7th Cir. 2014); see Lewis v. United States, 518 U.S. 322, 326 (1996) ("The judiciary should not substitute its judgment as to seriousness for that of a legislature, which is far better equipped to perform the task"). In Wisconsin, the Legislature has defined the phrases "serious crime" and "serious felony" in multiple contexts.¹² In no statute is violating an injunction considered "serious" by the Legislature. As charges against M.M.K. cannot such. theconsidered "serious," meaning the State has no

¹¹ See supra, footnote 2.

^{12 &}quot;Serious crime" is defined in Wis. Stat. §§ 48.685(1)(c); 50.065(1)(e)1.&2.; and 969.08(10)(b). Wis. Stat. § 949.165(1)(a) incorporates the definition from § 969.08(10)(b). "Serious felony" is defined in Wis. Stat. §§ 48.415(9m)(b); 302.11(1g); 939.62(2m)(a)2m.; and 973.0135(1)(b).

Case 2024AP000591 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-17-2024 Page 24 of 44

important interest in prosecuting her. *Sell*, 529 U.S. at 180; *Lewis*, 518 U.S. at 326.

Even if this Court does exercise its own judgment to define which offenses are "serious," violating an injunction order cannot be considered serious on the continuum of criminal acts. When discerning the seriousness of an offense, federal courts look to the maximum statutory penalty. This practice has been adopted because the maximum penalty "reflects at least some measure of legislative judgment regarding the seriousness of a crime." *Breedlove*, 756 F.3d at 1041 (citing *United States v. Green*, 532 F.3d 538, 547-48 (6th Cir. 2008)).

The maximum penalty at issue here—nine month's jail for each misdemeanor count—indicates that the offenses would not be considered serious under the federal mode of interpretation. See, e.g., United States v. Valenzuela-Puentes, 479 F.3d 1220, 1226 (10th Cir. 2007) (compiling cases where "serious" offenses had maximum penalties of 10, 20, and 50 years). Indeed, Class A misdemeanors carry among the least severe penalties in Wisconsin's sentencing classifications.

Finally, the significant amount of sentence credit owed to M.M.K. further lessens any interest the State may have in prosecuting her. *See Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180; *United States v. Berry*, 911 F.3d 354 (6th Cir. 2018) (Government lacked important interest in prosecuting defendant for planting a fake bomb—5-

year sentence—due to lack of violence¹³ and length of time already served—36 months). M.M.K. had 127 days of credit when involuntary medication was ordered. (67:2; App.7). If M.M.K. were to receive a maximum sentence—noting there is nothing suggesting this would be appropriate—she would be required to serve 202 days (accounting for good time). See Wis. Stat. § 971.14(5)(a)3.; see Berry, 911 F.3d at 363 (considering the time the government sought to administer medication along with the presentence credit). With 127 days of credit, M.M.K. had more than a 5-month sentence worth of credit.

M.M.K. is charged with offenses that are not serious. Additionally, any important state interest is diminished by the significant sentence credit that M.M.K. has accrued. Because *Sell* requires every factor to be proven by clear and convincing evidence, the State's failure to show an important state interest means they cannot meet their burden for an involuntary medication order. *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180-81.

ii. Involuntary medication will not significantly further any government interest given the medication plan is unlikely to restore M.M.K. to competency.

Even if the State could show an important interest in prosecuting the offense, the State must prove that "involuntary medication will *significantly*

¹³ M.M.K. is not accused of any violent behavior here.

Case 2024AP000591 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-17-2024 Page 26 of 44

further" that interest. *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 181 (emphasis in original). To meet its burden on this factor, the State must prove "that administration of the drugs is substantially likely to render the defendant competent to stand trial." *Id*.

To show that forced medication is substantially likely to render M.M.K. competent, the State must present "an individualized treatment plan applied to the particular defendant." *Green*, 396 Wis. 2d at ¶38.

Sell requires this treatment plan to, at minimum, identify (1) the specific medication or range of medications that the treating physicians are permitted to use in their treatment of the defendant, (2) the maximum dosages that may be administered, and (3) the duration of time that involuntary treatment of the defendant may continue before the treating physicians are required to report back to the court.

Id., ¶38 (internal citations omitted). "[G]eneric treatment plans" that are not individualized to the defendant are "not enough" under *Sell. Id.*

Here, the State offered the exact type of "generic treatment plan" that *Green* found insufficient to meet the second *Sell* factor.

a. The range of medications in the Individual Treatment Plan are unconstitutionally generic.

To meet *Sell's* second factor, the State cannot "offer a generic treatment plan with a medication and

Case 2024AP000591 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-17-2024 Page 27 of 44

dosage that are generally effective for a defendant's condition." Green, 396 Wis. 2d at ¶34. "Such a practice would reduce orders for involuntary medication to a generic exercise," which isconstitutionally insufficient. Id. Instead, doctors must present the court with detailed and individualized treatment plans that explain what medications are to be given. the specific dosage of each medication, the effects of the medications, and why the proposed medication schedule is appropriate to address the individual's particular treatment needs. See Id at ¶38.

Here, the State requested that MMHI be allowed to administer six oral antipsychotics, seven injectable antipsychotics, two mood stabilizers, one medication meant to treat side effects, and one sedative. (44:4-7; App. 73-76). The plan then outlines that "additional medications to address side effects or allergic reactions will be provided when necessary." (44:4; App. 73).

At the motion hearing, Dr. Cohen reiterated that the State intended to use a plethora of antipsychotic medications despite "[m]any of these medications hav[ing] similar abilities to treatment [sic] symptoms." (82:9; App.17). Dr. Cohen then requested to use mood stabilizers such as "lithium or valproic acid . . . if that became necessary." (82:10; App. 18). Dr. Cohen later admitted that the treatment plan was created despite being unable to obtain records regarding M.M.K.'s psychiatric history or known allergies to medications. (82:19; App. 27).

Case 2024AP000591 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-17-2024 Page 28 of 44

Beyond testifying that she would start by administering aripiprazole, neither the individual treatment plan nor Dr. Cohen's testimony specifies which of the seventeen medications the State would forcibly administer and in what combination. (82:9; App. 17). Instead, Dr. Cohen seems to request carte blanche to medicate M.M.K. with any combination of drugs the State deems necessary at a given time. See (82:9-10, 19; App. 17-18, 27); see United States v. Chavez, 734 F.3d 1247, 1253 (10th Cir. 2013). The State also provided no substantive explanation of why the litany of medications is appropriate to address M.M.K.'s particular treatment needs. Absent these necessary details, the State's Individual Treatment Plan is unconstitutionally generic. See Green, 396 Wis. 2d at ¶¶34, 38.

> b. Referencing statutorily-required report dates does not sufficiently outline the duration of time that involuntary treatment may continue.

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