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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court relied on the testimony and report of Dr. Calas to make its determination that M.M.K. was not competent and therefore the court's decision was not clearly erroneous.

The circuit court relied on the testimony and report of Dr. Calas to make its determination that M.M.K. was not competent, as a result there are facts in evidence which the circuit court relied on to support its decision, therefore, the court's decision is not clearly erroneous.

Wisconsin law states that "no person who lacks substantial mental capacity to understand the proceedings or assist in his or her own defense may be tried, convicted or sentenced for the commission of the an offense so long as the incapacity endures." Wis. Stat. 971.13(1). The due process test provided in Wis. Stat. 971.13(1) is a codification of the United States Supreme Court decision in *Dusky v. United States*, 362 U.S. 402, 402, 80 S.Ct. 788 (1960). See *State v. Garfoot*, 207 Wis. 214, ¶16, 558 N.W.2d 626 (1997).

"Competency to stand trial constitutes a judicial inquiry, not a medical determination." *State v. Byrge*, 2000 WI 101, ¶31, 237 Wis.2d 197, 614 N.W.2d 477, (2000). Appellate courts are to use the clearly erroneous standard when reviewing the circuit court's competency determination. *Id.* at ¶45. "The review of a circuit court's competency to stand trial determination is limited to whether that finding is totally unsupported by facts in the record and, therefore, is clearly erroneous." *State v. Smith*, 2016 WI 23, ¶29, 367 Wis.2d 483, 878 N.W.2d 135(2016), citing *Byrge*, 2000 WI 101, ¶33, 237 Wis. 2d 197,

614 N.W.2d 477; *Garfoot*, 207 Wis.2d at 224-25, 558 N.W.2d 626.

The circuit court relied on the testimony and report of Dr. Calas to determine that M.M.K. was competent. The circuit court stated M.M.K. is a smart person and understands proceedings in the criminal justice system. R. 76. 25-27. However, the court believed that M.M.K. could not assist in her own defense due to her mental illness, that being undiagnosed schizophrenia. R. 76. 25-27. Dr. Calas stated that her mental illness was impacting her ability to have an accurate perception of events which renders her unable to assist in her own defense. R. 76. 9. The report Dr. Calas filed and the circuit court received states that M.M.K.'s underlying psychosis precluded her ability to have a rational conversation regarding her cases. The circuit court relied on this report as well.

The circuit court did mention the request for a voluntary medication order in making its ruling. However, the court relied on other facts in the record such as the testimony and reports by Dr. Calas and are therefore not clearly erroneous.

II. The State presented sufficient evidence to support an involuntary medication order under *Sell*.

The United States Supreme Court has held that the constitution allows the government to involuntarily administer individuals who are mentally ill and facing serious criminal charges to make that person competent to stand trial. Sell v. United States, 539 U.S. 166, 179, 123 S.Ct. 2174 (2003). The Court then established a four-factor test to determine whether a court may order involuntary medication to restore a defendant to competency. The four factors the State must show by clear and convincing evidence are: (1) an important government interest is at stake; (2) involuntary medication will significantly further that interest; (3) involuntary medication is necessary to further that interest; and (4) administration of drugs is medically inappropriate. *Id.* at 180-81. The State must provide an individualized treatment plan to meet the second, third, and fourth factors under Sell. State v. Green, 2021 WI App 18, ¶¶ 37-38, 396 Wis. 2d 658, 957 N.W.2d 583.

The State is required to prove the factual components of each of the four factors by clear and convincing evidence. *Id.* at 16. The standard for reviewing Sell orders was not specified by the Sell Court. United States v. Grape, 549 F.3d 591, 598 (3d Cir. 2008). Wisconsin courts also have not specified the standard of review of the circuit court's determination of the Sell factors. Green, 396 Wis. 2d 658 ¶18. Numerous federal courts have held that the first Sell factor is reviewed de novo and remaining factors are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. See *United States v. Mikulich*, 732 F.3d 692, 696 (6th Cir. 2013); Grape, 549 F.3d 591, 598 (3rd Cir. 2008); United States v. Palmer, 507 F.3d 300, 303 (5th Cir. 2007); United States v. Evans, 404 F.3d 227, 236 (4th Cir. 2005); United States v. Diaz, 630 F.3d 1314, 1331 (11th Cir. 2011); United States v. Gillen water, 749 F.3d 1094, 1101 (9th Cir. 2014); United States v. Fazio, 599 F.3d 835, 839-40 (8th Cir. 2010).

A. The State presented sufficient evidence to satisfy the Sell factors.

i. The State has an important interest in prosecuting M.M.K.

"Bringing to trial an individual accused of a serious crime" is an important interest. *Sell* at 180, 123 S.Ct. 2174. The court "must consider the facts of the individual case in evaluating the Government's interest in prosecution." *Id*.

This case concerns M.M.K. making harassing and salacious posts on a social media site about her husband and child in violation of a restraining order. M.M.K.'s harassing actions resulted in five class A misdemeanor counts over four filed cases. R. 1.1. The five class A misdemeanors each carry a maximum sentence of nine months in jail. If each sentence were to be run consecutive to another, M.M.K. could receive a sentence of forty five months in custody.

The circuit court found that the State had an important interest in prosecuting M.M.K. and that this was a serious offense. The circuit court determined that M.M.K's behavior "results in the ongoing harassment, intimidation, and illegal violation of this person's sanctity and their right to be left alone." R. 82. 33. The State has an interest in making sure that people who violate

restraining orders are held accountable and that individuals who are supposed to be protected by a restraining order actually are protected. It is important for the State to prosecute these offenses and if someone is not competent, bring that person to competency, to prosecute these offenses in order to effectively put meaning to a restraining order.

ii. Involuntary medication will significantly further the government's interest.

The court must find that the involuntary medication will significantly further the government's interest in prosecuting the offense. *Id.* at 181, 123 S.Ct. 2174. The court "must find that administration of the drugs is substantially likely to render the defendant competent to stand trial" and "unlikely to have side effects that will interfere significantly with the defendant's ability to assist counsel in conducting a trail defense, thereby rendering the trial unfair." *Id.*

The treatment plan offered by the State was not generic. M.M.K.'s treatment plan, testified to by Dr. Cohen, indicated that M.M.K. would start out with Abilify or Aripiprazole as these were the most appropriate medications for M.M.K. Dr. Cohen testified as to why Abilify or Aripiprazole were the most appropriate medications and also included a plan for side effects, which included Benadryl to treat the side effects. R. 82. 9. The individualized treatment plan consisted of a range of dosage for the medication and Dr. Cohen indicated that M.M.K. would start on the low end of the range and if needed would be given a higher dosage.

The circuit court determined that the involuntary medication will significantly further the government's interest because the involuntary administration of medication and treatment is necessary for the defendant to regain competency and is substantially likely to render M.M.K. competent. R. 82. 32-33. The circuit court based this decision on the testimony and report of Dr. Cohen.

iii. The individual treatment plan is medically appropriate.

The medical appropriateness of the administration drugs means what is in the patient's best medical interest in light of the medical condition. *Id.* "The specific kinds of drugs at issue may matter here as elsewhere" as "Different kinds of antipsychotic drugs may produce different side effects and enjoy different levels of success." *Id.*

The individual treatment plan and the testimony of Dr. Cohen indicate that M.M.K. would first start out with low doses of Abilify or Aripiprazole, if the levels of dosage is not effective, a higher dose would be given to M.M.K. This is medically appropriate as doctors should be able to adjust dosage to be more effective if a lower dose is not working. It does not make sense to continue to give an individual a dosage which is not effective and the doctor knows is not effective.

The circuit court determined based on the testimony and report of Dr. Cohen that the plan was rational, coherent and appropriate. Therefore, under the clearly erroneous standard, there is evidence to support the court's decision.

III. The State is not contesting the mootness question.

CONCLUSION

The circuit court's competency order and involuntary medication order were properly ordered. The State asks the Court affirm the circuit court's orders.